### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CC-01203

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY AND TINA L. DARBY **APPELLANTS** 

VS.

TRENT L. HOWELL, PLLC

APPELLEE

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representatives are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Mississippi Department of Employment Security, Appellant
- 2. Honorable LeAnne F. Brady, Esq., Attorney for Appellant
- 3. Trent Howell, PLLC, Appellee

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the Circuit Court erred in reversing the Board of Review's decision finding that the Claimant, Tina L. Darby, proved by substantial evidence that she had good cause to leave her employment with Trent L. Howell, PLLC, pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-513(A)(1)(c) (2008).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Tina L. Darby [also hereafter referred to as "Claimant"] was employed for approximately eleven (11) years as a paralegal with Trent L. Howell, PLLC, [also hereafter referred to as "Employer"] of Water Valley, Mississippi. (R. Vol. 1, p. 56). Ms. Darby voluntarily left her employment on October 1, 2007, because she was being sexually harassed by her supervisor, Trent Howell. (R. Vol. 1, p. 56).

On October 9, 2007, the Claimant filed for unemployment benefits and an investigation was conducted by MDES to determine the Claimant's eligibility for unemployment benefits. (R. Vol. 1, p. 26, 35-41). After speaking with both parties, the Claims Examiner recommended disqualification of the Claimant for benefits because the Claimant failed to show good cause for voluntarily leaving her employment. (R. Vol. 1, p. 42). The Claimant filed her Notice of Appeal of this decision on November 14, 2007. (R. Vol. 1, p. 44).

A telephonic hearing before the Administrative Law Judge [also hereafter referred to as "ALJ"] was held on January 16, 2008, at which the Claimant, the Employer, and several witnesses for both parties participated. (R. Vol. 1, p. 45-162). The ALJ found the Claimant failed to prove she had good cause for voluntarily leaving her employment and affirmed the decision of the Claims Examiner. (R. Vol. 1, p. 168-170). The Claimant filed an appeal of the ALJ's decision to the Board of Review on February 4, 2008. (R. Vol. 1, p. 171). The Board of Review reversed the decision of the ALJ finding as follows:

#### FINDINGS OF FACT:

The Board of Review agrees with and adopts the ALJ's Findings of Fact. However, the Board of Review hereby makes the following additional Findings of Fact, to-wit: The letter from Trent Howell to claimant dated August 19, 2007 indicated that Mr. Howell would like to have a personal relationship with claimant outside of the work place, as well as a sexual relationship with her. As a result of this letter, the meeting was held between claimant, Mr. Howell, and Mr. Howell's wife, who also worked in the office. Based upon Mr. Howell's assurance that any interference with claimant's personal life or inappropriate behavior on his part would stop, claimant decided to continue working. Although Mr. Howell complied for awhile, when claimant became engaged to be married, Mr. Howell again began interfering with claimant's personal life by telling her that she should not marry her fiancé, by questioning claimant about how she spent her personal time, and by attempting to keep up or find out about her personal life outside of work. Claimant and a witness, her fiancé, also testified that on one occasion Mr. Howell came to claimant's home to pick up files, and while there made offensive statements about her decision to marry, and about her fiancé personally, to her and her fiancé.

#### **OPINION:**

The Board of Review is of the opinion that subsequent to August 19, 2007, the record evidence supports a finding that while Mr. Howell did not pursue a sexual relationship with claimant, he did begin to meddle in and interfere with claimant's personal business or affairs, and relationships. The Board of Review's opinion is supported by claimant's testimony and Mr. Howell's conduct on September 28, 2007, in which he contacted a third party to inquire about claimant's whereabouts during her absence from work. The Board of Review is further of the opinion that based on Mr. Howell's past conduct, and Mr. Howell's conduct after August 19, 2007, a reasonable prudent person would believe that Mr. Howell's behavior was a continuation of, or another form of, harassment, creating an offensive work environment. Thus, the Board of Review is of the opinion that claimant had good cause for quitting her employment with the employer; and the decision of the ALJ should be reversed.

(R. Vol. 1, p. 186-187).

The Employer appealed the decision of the Board to the Circuit Court of Yalobusha County. (R. Vol. 1, p. 18). After review of the record and briefs submitted by both parties in this matter, the Honorable Andrew C. Baker entered his decision reversing the Board of Review on March 23, 2009. (R. Vol. 3, p. 287). The circuit court found that the Claimant and the Employer had a good working relationship until October 1, 2007. (R. Vol. 3, p. 284). After this point, the circuit court found that an "office flirtation" developed between Mr. Howell and the Claimant, Ms. Darby. (R. Vol. 3, p. 284). This led to Mr. Howell's letter to Ms. Darby in which he expressed "how he felt about her and he would like for the relationship to continue and to become more involved." (R. Vol. 3, p. 284). The circuit court found that this letter offended Ms. Darby and this led to a meeting between Ms. Darby, Mr. Howell and his wife, Mrs. Howell. (R. Vol. 3., p. 285). At this meeting, Mr. Howell apologized to Ms. Darby and she agreed to continue working for the firm. (R. Vol. 3, p. 285).

The circuit court held that after this meeting, the record did not show that Mr. Howell "pursued any further sexual relationship with Mr. Darby. . . . " (R. Vol. 3, p. 285). Unlike the Board's decision, the circuit court found that Mr. Howell's behavior toward Ms. Darby after the meeting did not "create an offensive work environment." (R. Vol. 3, p. 286). The circuit court held that the Board's decision was not supported by substantial evidence and reversed and reinstated the decision of the ALJ. (R. Vol. 3, p. 287).

MDES then perfected its appeal to this Honorable Court. (R. Vol. 3, p. 288).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The only issue in this case is whether or not the Board of Review's decision finding the Claimant, Tina L. Darby, had good cause to voluntarily leave her employment is supported by

substantial evidence. The Claimant testified to numerous incidents of harassment and inappropriate behavior by her Employer, Trent Howell. Furthermore, Mr. Howell wrote and sent a letter to Ms. Darby which clearly indicated he would like to have a sexual relationship with her. Mr. Howell admitted to many of these incidents and to writing the letter. Additionally, MDES asserts that Ms. Darby did not have to prove Mr. Howell sexually harassed her; she only had to show by substantial evidence that her actions were reasonable under the circumstances.

Ms. Darby worked in a small law firm for an attorney and his wife. She had few options available to her to remedy the situation. She chose to stay Mr. Howell's employ after he assured her that his inappropriate behavior would cease. However, he continued to interfere in her personal life by demeaning her fiancé, checking up on her whereabouts and discouraging her to marry. Ms. Darby had no other alternative than to leave her employment. Her actions were that of an ordinary prudent employee under the circumstances.

Thus, it is the contention of MDES that the testimony and evidence presented in this case before the ALJ was sufficient and substantial and proved that the Employer's actions constituted harassment and that Ms. Darby proved by substantial evidence that she had good cause to leave her employment. Therefore, this Honorable Court should affirm the decision of the Board of Review.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Standard of Review

The provisions of Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-531 govern this appeal. That Section states that the appeals court shall consider the record made before the Board of Review of the Mississippi Department of Employment Security, and absent fraud, shall accept the findings of fact if supported by substantial evidence, and the correct law has been applied. Richardson v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n, 593 So. 2d 31, 34 (Miss. 1992); Barnett v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n, 583 So. 2d 193, 195 (Miss. 1991); Wheeler v. Arriola, 408 So. 2d 1381, 1384 (Miss. 1982).

In <u>Barnett</u>, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that:

{J}udicial review, under Miss Code Ann. Section 71-5-531 (1972), is in most circumstances, limited to questions of law, to-wit:

In any judicial proceedings under this section, the findings of the board of review as to the facts, if supported by substantial evidence and in the absence of fraud, shall be conclusive, and the jurisdiction of said shall be confined to questions of law.

<u>Barnett</u>, 583 So. 2d at 195. Furthermore, a rebuttable presumption exists in favor of the Board of Review's decision and the challenging party has the burden of proving otherwise. <u>Allen v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n</u>, 639 So. 2d 904, 906 (Miss. 1994). The appeals court also must not reweigh the facts nor insert its judgment for that of the agency. <u>McLaurin v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n</u>, 435 So. 2d 1170, 1172 (Miss. 1983).

II. The lower court erred when it reversed the decision of the Board of Review finding that the Claimant, Tina L. Darby, proved by substantial evidence that she had good cause to leave her employment with Trent L. Howell, PLLC, due to harassment pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-513A (1)(c)(2008).

Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-513 (A)(1)(a)(2008) provides for disqualifying persons from benefits otherwise eligible for such acts as leaving work voluntarily without good cause. It will be the employee's, and not the employer's, duty to prove that the reason for the separation from employment amounted to good cause. Miss Code Ann. § 71-5-513 (A)(1)(c) (2008). Thus, what circumstances constitute good cause must be decided on a case by case basis.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has previously opined that sexual harassment in the workplace constitutes good cause for voluntarily leaving employment under Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-513 (A)(3)(a). In Hoerner Boxes, Inc. v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n., 693 So. 2d 1343 (Miss. 1997), the Court held that: "we conclude that if an employee is sexually harassed to such a degree that an ordinary prudent employee would leave the ranks of the employed for the unemployed, then the employee should not be denied unemployment compensation benefits."

Hoerner Boxes, 693 So. 2d at 1348.

In the case *sub judice*, the Claimant worked for Trent L. Howell, PLLC, in Water Valley, Mississippi. This was a small law office consisting of the attorney, Mr. Howell; and two employees, the Claimant, Ms. Darby, and Mr. Howell's wife, Shelly Howell. (R. Vol. 1, p. 57, 61). Ms. Darby testified that the problems with Mr. Howell began after she was divorced around May of 2007, and then escalated until her separation. (R. Vol. 1, p. 57). Ms. Darby testified about a phone call she received from Mr. Howell, asking her to come and meet him for Margarita night because he "was going to be alone." (R. Vol. 1, p. 59). Ms. Darby testified that she told Mr. Howell that "he couldn't be talking that way, and that I had no interest in a relationship like that." (R. Vol. 1, p. 60). Ms. Darby testified that after this incident, Mr. Howell tried to hug her and hold her hand. (R. Vol. 1, p. 60). Ms. Darby testified that she told Mr. Howell that if he did not stop his behavior, she would have to find another job. (R. Vol. 1, p. 60).

Ms. Darby testified that Mr. Howell invited her to his home for a family cookout on July 4, 2007, and was overly interested in what she was doing later that day. (R. Vol. 1, p. 70). He called her at home on July 5, 2007, and wanted her to come to a cookout at another individual's home. (R. Vol. 1, p. 70). Ms. Darby stated that Mr. Howell called her at home almost every weekend for the last six months she was in his employ "just to find out, I guess, what I was doing." (R. Vol. 1, p. 71).

In August, 2007, Mr. Howell wrote and mailed a letter to Ms. Darby at her home. (R. Vol. 1, p. 45). This letter was entered into evidence as Claimant's Exhibit #1. (R. Vol. 1, p. 45, & R. Vol. 2, 164-167). In this letter, Mr. Howell indicated that he would like to have a personal, as well as sexual relationship with Ms. Darby, outside of the workplace. (R. Vol. 2, p. 164-167). As a result of this letter, the Claimant tried to resign from her position. A meeting was held between the Claimant, Mr. Howell and his wife on August 6. (R. Vol. 1, p. 63). At this meeting, Mr. Howell assured the Claimant that any interference with her personal life, or inappropriate behavior on his part, would

stop. (R. Vol. 2, p. 63). Ms. Darby made the decision to continue working for Mr. Howell based on these assurances. (R. Vol. 1, p. 63).

It appears from the record that Mr. Howell conformed his behavior for awhile; however, when Ms. Darby became engaged, Mr. Howell again began interfering in her personal life. Ms. Darby testified that Mr. Howell tried to talk her out of getting married and moving to Texas on an almost daily basis. (R. Vol. 2, p. 130.) Ms. Darby testified that Mr. Howell questioned how she spent her personal time, and even tried to check up on her whereabouts outside the office by calling her hair dresser, dentist, and even coming to her home. (R. Vol. 1, p. 67, 71, 106, 107, 109, 112, & Vol. 2, p. 121). Ms. Darby testified that on her last day of work, she had discovered that Mr. Howell had contacted her hairdresser looking for her. (R. Vol. 1, p. 67). Ms. Darby testified that she asked Mr. Howell about it and tried to discuss it with his wife. (R. Vol. 1, p. 67). When it appeared that Mr. Howell did not feel this behavior was inappropriate, Ms. Darby made the decision to quit.

The lower court found that the decision of the Board of Review was not supported by substantial evidence and that Mr. Howell's conduct did not create an offensive work environment. However, review of the testimony and evidence in the record shows this in not the case. The lower court found that an "office flirtation" developed between Mr. Howell and Ms. Darby. However, the only testimony that supports this conclusion is Mr. Howell's. Ms. Darby repeatedly denied flirting with Mr. Howell. (R. Vol. 2, p. 79). She testified that she made it clear she had no interest in a relationship with Mr. Howell and told him if he did not stop making advances toward her she would have to find another job. (R. Vol. 2, p. 79).

The lower court also found that during the meeting on August 6, 2007, in which all the parties met to discuss the letter Mr. Howell sent to Ms. Darby: "Ms. Darby stated that it was not all Mr. Howell's fault, that she too was to blame." Again the only testimony that supports this finding

is Mr. Howell's. In the record, the following exchange occurred when Mr. Howell was cross-examining Ms. Darby:

MR. HOWELL:

We had the meeting, did we not, Ms. Darby?

MS. DARBY:

Yes.

MR. HOWELL:

And in that meeting did I apologize to you and Shelley?

Ouestion.

MS. DARBY:

Yes. You did.

MR. HOWELL:

And did you not tell Shelley and I that you were partly

to blame?

MS. DARBY:

No.

Shelly Howell, Mr. Howell's wife and employee, also testified about this meeting and did not recall Ms. Darby stating she was partially to blame. Ms. Howell testified that Mr. Howell apologized to her during the meeting and assured her that nothing else would happen. (R. Vol. 2, p. 149). She did not recall Ms. Darby admitting that she was also at fault, but that Ms. Darby stated that she was ". . . a flirtatious person, and that he apparently had taken it the wrong way, and she didn't appreciate it." (R. Vol. 2, p. 158).

The lower court also found that it could not find that the conduct of Mr. Howell created a hostile work environment, and that Ms. Darby, Mr. Howell and Mrs. Howell were able to meet and discuss their differences and continue a working relationship. Again, the record does not support this conclusion. Mr. Howell admitted that he came to her home in September, 2007, because Ms. Darby had some of his client files. (R. Vol. 1, p. 106). While perfectly within his right to retrieve the files, he admitted that he argued with her about her personal life. (R. Vol. 1, p. 106). Mr. Howell testified:

I made some comments, I don't know if I said the exact words, but I made comments like, she was better than this, that she didn't, you

know, she didn't . . . she was more of a responsible person, how could she behave like this, you know, was this the kind of lifestyle she wanted to continue living, you know, things like this . . . .

(R. Vol. 1. p. 108-109). He even stated during the hearing that he did not think Ms. Darby's fiancé was, "the right guy for her, still don't, but that's her business." (R. Vol. 1., p. 109). He also admitted that he called her hairdresser looking for her (R. Vol. 1, p.112), and that he called her dentist at home, and then later asked the dentist in person if Ms. Darby had an appointment. (R. Vol. 2, p. 121). Ms. Howell also testified that Mr. Howell's behavior was inappropriate and that she told Mr. Howell, "you shouldn't be doing that . . . [T]ina doesn't appreciate us making phone calls . . . . (R. Vol 2, p. 129). All of these incidents were after the August 6<sup>th</sup> meeting. (R. Vol. 2, p. 121-122).

It is clear from these admissions that Mr. Howell continued to interfere in Ms. Darby's personal life, even after the meeting on August 6. The test established in <u>Hoerner Boxes</u> is clear that if the harassment is of such a nature that a normal prudent person would leave their unemployment, the employee should not be denied unemployment compensation. While Mr. Howell no longer made any sexual advances toward Ms. Darby after the August 6 meeting, his behavior, taking into account his conduct prior to August 6, would lead a normal prudent person to believe that he was continuing to harass them. Ms. Darby proved by substantial evidence that she had good cause to leave her employment with Mr. Howell because she believed he would continue to harass her. This Honorable Court should affirm the decision of the Board of Review.

II. The Claimant does not have to prove that she was sexually harassed under the law, only that her actions were reasonable under the circumstances and a normal, prudent, person would have left their employment under the same situation.

MDES also asserts that when considering the issue of whether or not an employee has good cause to leave their employment, it is not necessary for the claimant to prove the employer committed bad acts, like sexual harassment, it is only necessary to prove that it was reasonable under the circumstances to leave their employment.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has previously considered the reasonableness of the Claimant's actions in determining whether or not a Claimant had good cause to leave their employment. In Hoerner Boxes, the Claimant asserted that she was sexually harassed by a coworker. Hoerner Boxes, 693 So. 2d at 1344. The Claimant reported the harassment to her supervisor on many occasions, and the employer failed to act. Id. at 1345. The Claimant decided to leave her job when she witnessed the same co-worker sexually harass another female employee. Id. at 1344. The Claimant filed for unemployment benefits and was initially denied. Id. The Claimant appealed and the Appeals Referee reversed and awarded the claimant benefits, which was affirmed by the Board of Review. Id. The Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed, noting that the Claimant had taken steps to correct the problem prior to quitting. Id. at 1347. The Court further found that a Claimant had good cause to leave their employment if they could show that an ordinary prudent employee in their same circumstances "would leave the ranks of the employed for the unemployed." Id. at 1348.

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