DOCKET NO. 2009-CC-01203

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY AND TINA L. DARBY **APPELLANTS**

VS.

NO: 2009-CC-01203

TRENT L. HOWELL, PLLC

APPELLEE

OF YALOBUSHA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

(Oral Argument Not Requested)

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

TRENT L. HOWELL ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE P. O. Box 947 Water Valley, MS 38965 (662) 473-3307 Miss. Bar

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY AND TINA L. DARBY **APPELLANTS**

VS

NO: 2009-CC-01203

TRENT L. HOWELL, PLLC

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The employer, Mr. Howell, never harassed the claimant, Mrs. Darby, sexually or otherwise. Nothing about his behavior gave her good cause to quit her job. Rather, she had decided before many of the incidents complained of that she was going to quit and move to Texas to marry her fiancé. The employer did not want her to quit and he and his wife told her they needed her help. Her quitting put them in a bind, as they had not planned on her quitting for about another two months and needed her to work. She left a good job; not because of anything her employer did, but because she was tired of working and wanted to be with her fiancé.

Contrary to the position taken by the appellant MDES and the findings of the Board of Review, the actions of Mrs. Darby, the claimant, were not those of an ordinary prudent employee. A reasonable prudent person would not have believed they were being harassed, and Mr. Howell did not create an offensive work environment, as the Board of Review incorrectly concluded. His actions constituted no form of harassment. Rather, the claimant herself caused or certainly contributed to any unpleasantness she felt in the law office. She became derelict in her duties and overreacted to reasonable acts on the part of her employer.

The Board of Review appears to have scanned the record with one eye shut, as a careful reading of the record, and a consideration of the totality of the evidence and circumstances, as was done by the Circuit Court, not only supports the decision reached by both the claims examiner and the ALJ, but requires it. Therefore, this Honorable Court should affirm the decision of the Circuit Court.

IV. THE ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Section 71-5-531 of the Mississippi Code governs the standard of review for appealing a Mississippi Department of Employment Security Board of Review decision to the circuit court and the Mississippi Supreme Court. Hodge v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n, 757 So. 2d 268 (Miss. 2000). According to Section 71-5-531 the findings of the Board of Review are conclusive, if supported by evidence and in the absence of fraud. But the type of evidence required to make the Board of Review's findings conclusive is *substantial* evidence. Allen v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n, 639 So. 2d 904, 906 (Miss. 1994) (emphasis added). "Substantial evidence" is that which is relevant and capable of supporting a reasonable conclusion, or more than a mere scintilla of evidence. Gilbreath v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n, 910 So. 2d 682, 686 (Miss. App. 2005). Further, a decision that is not based on substantial evidence is arbitrary and capricious. Gilbreath, 910 So. 2d at 686. And, a ruling is not based on substantial evidence "if glaringly obvious evidence is ignored." Univ. of Miss. Med. Ctr. v. Pounders, 970 So. 2d 141, 147 (Miss. 2007).

B. The MDES Board of Review finding that the claimant voluntarily quit her employment for good cause is not supported by substantial evidence; therefore, the Circuit Court properly reversed the Board's decision to grant unemployment benefits to the claimant.

Section 71-5-513 of the Mississippi Code provides in part that a claimant seeking unemployment benefits is disqualified if she voluntarily quits her employment without good cause. Moreover, the burden of proving good cause for quitting one's employment is on the claimant. Miss. Code Ann. §71-5-513 (A)(1)(c).

It is undisputed that Mrs. Darby, the claimant, voluntarily quit her job against the

wishes and over the request of her employer. What is disputed is whether or not she had good cause to do so. The MDES contends she proved harassment, giving her good cause to quit, and then did quit, as any reasonable employee would do. The employer appellee denies the allegations of harassment, and contends the claimant quit because she no longer liked working for her employer and had decided to move to Texas and get married. The employer also denies that he made the working conditions so intolerable that quitting was a reasonable act on the part of the claimant.

The Board of Review found that the employer interfered in Mrs. Darby's personal life by telling her she should not marry her fiancé; by questioning her about how she spent her personal time; and by attempting to keep up with or find out about her personal life. (R.E. 7). The Board deemed the alleged interference as "harassment" or that it was reasonable to believe it was. As one example in support of its findings the Board recounted the time in September, 2007 when the employer went to Mrs. Darby's residence and found her there with her boyfriend when she was supposed to have worked that morning. The Board accepted the testimony of Mrs. Darby and of her later fiancé as to what Mr. Howell said during that episode, and ignored the testimony given by Mr. Howell. Moreover, the Board ignored the dereliction of duty on the part of the claimant. The fact that she failed to perform an important task as part of her job and failed to telephone the office or answer her telephone was of no significance. It was not mentioned by the Board.

Mrs. Darby admitted that on the morning Mr. Howell came to her residence for his files, she was supposed to have taken the files that morning and gotten the signature of a judge on some lunacy orders. (R. Vol. 1, p. 80-81). She admitted that she did not telephone the office, did not answer her telephone, and did not let her employer and his

wife know what had become of her. (R. Vol. 1, p. 81-82). She admitted she used vulgarities in telling Mr. Howell to leave her house and yard. (R. Vol. 1, p. 83).

Mr. Howell testified that he went to Mrs. Darby's residence to see if he could find Mrs. Darby as she was not where she was supposed to be and had not reported to the office or answered her telephone. He did not know what had happened to her. His wife telephoned him while he was on his way back from Senatobia and told him Mrs. Darby was missing. He then agreed to stop at her house to check on her as it was on his way back to the office. (R. Vol. 1, p. 103-106). He testified that Mrs. Darby gave no excuse for neglecting her duty and not reporting to work. (R. Vol. 1, p. 104-105). He testified that he "chewed her out" about her behavior, those she had let down, and the lifestyle she was leading. (R. Vol. 1, p. 105). As he explained to the ALJ he mentioned her lifestyle, because the lifestyle she had begun living was the reason she did not come to work. (R. Vol. 1, p. 107). Mr. Howell also denied making derogatory comments about the fiancé. As he explained, he did not care what she did during her private time, as long as it did not affect the business. (R. Vol. 1, p. 108-109).

The Board of Review failed to mention the real reason Mr. Howell went to Mrs. Darby's home that morning. The Board also failed to mention the fact that Mrs. Darby apologized over the telephone later to Mr. Howell. And during that telephone call she said she loved her job and knew she had been messing up and letting Mr. and Mrs. Howell down. (R. Vol. 1, p. 83). The ALJ picked up on this apology. The ALJ questioned Mrs. Darby as to why she felt the need to apologize if Mr. Howell's behavior offended her so much. (R. Vol. 1, p. 86). Mrs. Darby's explanation was essentially that she was not sincere; she just said it to keep her job. (R. Vol. 1, p. 87). She knew she had done wrong. She

knew she could have been fired for her dereliction of duty that morning. How would a reasonable employer have reacted to what his employee had done that morning? Wouldn't he have been justified in firing her on the spot? But Mr. Howell did not do that. As he explained, he and his wife cared about Mrs. Darby. She had worked for them for over ten years. (R. Vol. 1, p. 105, 108).

The Board of Review seems to have completely overlooked the apology made by Mrs. Darby and the significance placed on it by the ALJ. It seemed to have ignored the employer's version of what took place, what he said, and the context in which it was said, although it was glaringly obvious. And a decision that ignores glaringly obvious evidence, is a ruling not based on substantial evidence. <u>Univ. of Miss. Med. Ctr. v. Pounders</u>, 970 So. 2d 141, 147 (Miss. 2007).

The Circuit Court grasped the situation. In his Order Judge Baker noted that Mr. Howell had an important reason to go to Mrs. Darby's residence that morning in September, 2007. (R.E. 10). But for Mrs. Darby failing to carry out her job assignment of meeting with a judge that morning as she was supposed to, and but for her having failed to telephone the office or answer her telephone, Mr. Howell would never have gone to her residence. It was Mrs. Darby, not Mr. Howell, that was responsible for what happened at her residence.

In accepting Mrs. Darby's version the Board of Review gave credence to the testimony of Mike Hill, the fiancé. (R.E. 7). In doing so the Board overlooked the contradiction of his testimony by that of the other witnesses, including that of Mrs. Darby. Mr. Hill testified that the reason Mrs. Darby failed to show up for work on the morning Mr. Howell went to her residence, was because she was sick, so sick she could not answer her

telephone. He also testified that she telephoned Mrs. Howell that morning and told her she was sick. (R. Vol. 1, p. 94-95). Mrs. Darby never gave as an excuse that she was sick. She never gave any excuse, according to the testimony of Mr. Howell, Mrs. Howell, and importantly, that of Mrs. Darby's best friend, Crystal Hale. (R. Vol. 1, p. 105; R. Vol. 2, p. 144, 159). Even Mrs. Darby herself never testified that she was sick and gave that as the reason she failed to show up for work. She did admit, however, that she never telephoned the office and never let her employer or his wife know where she was. (R. Vol. 1, p. 81). That testimony is directly contrary to that of Mike Hill. Because of that, and his obvious bias, his testimony was not worthy of belief, yet the Board of Review relied upon it in making its findings.

The Board of Review also stated in its opinion that Mr. Howell interfered in Mrs. Darby's personal life by telephoning her hairdresser. (R.E. 8). The Board did not, however, mention or place any emphasis on the explanation given by Mr. and Mrs. Howell for the telephone call to the hairdresser. (R. Vol. 1, p. 112-114; R. Vol. 2, p. 151-152). Also, Mr. Howell only asked if Mr. Redwine, the hairdresser, had seen Mrs. Darby. He said no, and the conversation ended. (R. Vol. 1, p. 113). Nothing else was said. There were no derogatory remarks made. No ugly suggestive comments. Under the circumstances there was nothing unreasonable about Mr. Howell telephoning and asking if the hairdresser had seen Mrs. Darby. If he had made comments or stated more, he might have crossed the line, but he did not. His reason for making the call was legitimate and certainly was not a form of harassment and the Circuit Court correctly so found. (R.E. 11).

The same thing applies to the telephone call Mr. Howell made to his dentist friend, Dr. Weeks. Mr. Howell just asked if he had seen Mrs. Darby. Dr. Weeks and his wife said

they could not answer that question and the telephone conversation ended. There were no derogatory remarks made by Mr. Howell. Nothing ugly was stated. He did not cross the line in simply asking if Dr. Weeks had seen her. Mr. Howell's actions were completely reasonable. Moreover, he made the telephone call at his wife's request. (R. Vol. 2, p. 150). The Howells were looking for Mrs. Darby because she was supposed to have returned to the office that afternoon to retrieve a file. She did not return and did not telephone. Again, the Howells had no idea what had become of her. But they knew she had a dental appointment that day. The telephone call to the dentist was therefore, completely reasonable. It was not harassment or an act of interfering in Mrs. Darby's life. And if Mrs. Darby had done as she was supposed to, or simply telephoned the office, the inquiry of the dentist would never have been made.

The alleged "harassment" is said to have occurred both before August 6, 2007 and after August 6, 2007. On that date is when the three, Mrs. Darby, Mr. Howell and Mrs. Howell's wife, Shelley Howell, met and Mr. Howell apologized and the three reconciled.

Noteworthy, Mrs. Darby labels both the behavior before and after August 6, 2007 as being sexual harassment. But the claims examiner, the ALJ and the Board of Review, never labeled Mr. Howell's behavior as sexual harassment. (R.E. 3, 4, 7). And the Board of Review correctly found that Mr. Howell did not pursue a sexual relationship after the August 2007 reconciliation meeting. Nor could there have been a finding that Mr. Howell sexually harassed the claimant, Mrs. Darby. As the Circuit Court amply noted, sexual harassment includes unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal and physical conduct of a sexual nature when: (1) submission to such conduct is made a condition of continued employment; (2) submission to or rejection of such conduct

is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting the employee; or (3) such conduct has as its purpose or effect the creation of an offensive work environment. (R.E. 11). In making this statement the Circuit Court cited <u>Loftin-Boggs v. City of Meridian</u>, 633 F. Supp. 1323, 1326 (S.D. Miss. 1986). As the Circuit Court properly found, there was no affair; no request for sexual favors; no inappropriate touching; no expression in verbal terms or words that was inappropriate. And there was no evidence of any conduct by Mr. Howell that he placed any conditions on the claimant's continued employment. (R.E. 11). Mrs. Darby never testified otherwise. The most she said was that Mr. Howell tried to hug her and tried to hold her hand, which Mr. Howell denied. And she testified in general terms to conversations they had before August 6, 2007 that she interpreted as being inappropriate and suggestive.

The Board of Review concluded that "a reasonable prudent person would believe that Mr. Howell's behavior was a continuation of, or another form of harassment, creating an offensive work environment." (R.E. 8). The Circuit Court found otherwise. He found that the conduct of Mr. Howell did not create an offensive work environment. (R.E.11).

In Loftin-Boggs v. City of Meridian, 633 F. Supp. 1323, 1327 (S.D. Miss. 1986) the Court stated, "[C]onsidering plaintiff's contribution to and apparent enjoyment of the situation, it cannot be said that the defendants created an ... offensive working environment." In the instant case there was testimony that Mrs. Darby too was at fault for what she later described as inappropriate behavior on the part of Mr. Howell. Mr. Howell testified that at the reconciliation meeting of August 6, 2007, Mrs. Darby confessed that she too was at fault. (R. Vol. 1, p. 102). Her best friend, Crystal Hale, testified that Mrs. Darby teased Mr. Howell, by inviting him to bars and then later texting him and saying she

did not mean it. (R. Vol. 2, p. 144-145). Even Mrs. Darby admitted she was flirtatious. (R. Vol. 2, p. 158). She also admitted that she had been "messing up" and letting the Howells down. (R. Vol. 1, p. 83).

Just like Mr. Howell said, there was a mutual flirting between he and Mrs. Darby, but which ended on August 6, 2007. After that there were three main things claimed by Mrs. Darby to be harassment: (1) the telephone call to the dentist; (2) the trip to Mrs. Darby's residence; and (3) the telephone call to the hairdresser. All three of these incidences were precipitated by Mrs. Darby herself. Had she returned to the office and retrieved the files as she was supposed to, or bothered to telephone the office, the dentist would not have been telephoned. Had she met with the judge to have the lunacy orders signed on the morning she was supposed to, or bothered to telephone the office or answer her telephone, Mr. Howell would never have gone to her residence. Had she been more trustworthy about her reason for not coming to work, Mr. Howell would never have telephoned the hairdresser.

If the office atmosphere had become unpleasant, hostile or offensive, it was not because of Mr. Howell's conduct. It was because of Mrs. Darby's conduct, or at least, she directly contributed to such. The Circuit Court was correct in determining that the evidence did not support a finding that Mr. Howell created an offensive work environment. Had the work environment really been offensive to Mrs. Darby she would not have told Mr. Howell in her apology following his trip to her residence, that she loved her job. (R. Vol. 1, p. 83). She also would not have encouraged her friend, Jennifer Sossaman, to apply for the job, or told Ms. Sossaman that her employer, Mr. Howell, was a good employer. (R. Vol. 2, p. 135).

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